#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	Supreme Court Case No. 94,861	
Complainant,	The Florida Bar File	
v.	No. 99-00772-02	
BERNARD MARC MOGIL,		
Respondent/		
On Petition for Review		
of the Referee's Report in a Disciplinary		

# **INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Proceeding.

PATRICIA S. ETKIN
The Florida Bar No. 290742
WEISS & ETKIN
8181 West Broward Boulevard, Suite 262
Plantation, FL 33324
954-424-9272
CO-COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

JOHN A. WEISS The Florida Bar No. 0185229 WEISS & ETKIN 2937 Kerry Forest Parkway, Suite B-2 Tallahassee, FL 32308 850-893-5854 CO-COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

##

#### INTRODUCTION

In this brief, BERNARD MARC MOGIL is referred to as either "Respondent" or "Mogil"; The Florida Bar will be referred to as either the "Complainant" or the "Bar"; Counsel for The Florida Bar will be referred to as "Bar Counsel"; Thomas F. Liotti will be referred to as "Liotti"; the State of New York Commission on Judicial Conduct will be referred to as "Commission" or "NYCJC"; the proceedings against Respondent as a Judge of the County Court before the Commission will be referred to as "judicial removal proceeding"; the proceedings against Respondent before the State of New York, Grievance Committee for the Ninth Judicial District will be referred to as "NY disciplinary proceeding"; the referee in the NY disciplinary proceeding will be referred to as "NY referee"; the opinion and order issued December 16, 1998 by the Supreme Court of the State of New York, Appellate Division, Second Judicial Department in the NY disciplinary proceeding will be referred to as "NY disciplinary order"; the Criminal Courts Bar Association will be referred to as "CCBA"; and other parties and/or witnesses will be referred to by their respective names or surnames for clarity.

Abbreviations utilized in this brief are as follows:

"TR" refers to the Transcript of Proceedings before the Referee in The Florida Bar disciplinary proceeding held June 21, 1999.

"RR" refers to the Report of Referee dated June 30, 1999.

"APP" refers to Appendix to Respondent's Initial Brief, attached hereto. All items included in this Appendix were submitted to the Referee as an "Respondent's Submittals".

"NYCJC TR" refers to Transcript of Proceedings before the State of New York,

Commission on Judicial Conduct, in the judicial removal proceeding designated as page and volume.

"NYCJC EX" refers to exhibit introduced by the State of New York, Commission on Judicial Conduct, in the judicial removal proceeding.

"NYCJC REX" refers to exhibit introduced by Respondent in the judicial removal proceeding.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent was admitted to the Florida Bar in 1974 (RR at 3) and the New York Bar in 1975 (NY disciplinary order). Respondent practiced law in New York until 1986 when he was elected to a six-year term as a Judge of the District Court (NYCJC TR 117; I). In 1990, Respondent was elected as a Judge of the Nassau County Court. He remained a County Court Judge until judicial removal proceedings resulted in his removal in 1996. (APP A: Findings at 1-2). Thereafter, Respondent practiced law in New York until his interim suspension (APP A: Findings at 1-2) and subsequent disbarment in NY disciplinary proceedings that were based upon the findings and evidence presented in the judicial removal proceedings. (NY disciplinary order). <sup>1</sup>

This Florida disciplinary proceeding commenced on February 10, 1999 with the filing of a complaint against Respondent which alleges as its basis the NY disciplinary order.<sup>2</sup> The Bar's complaint charges Respondent with violating Rules 4-8.4 (c) (conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation) and 4-8.4 (d) (conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice) of the Rules of Discipline of The Florida Bar.

A Referee was appointed on February 24, 1999.

On March 15, 1999, Respondent, appearing pro se, answered the Bar's Complaint and Request for Admissions by admitting certain portions of the allegations. Respondent provided an explanation for those portions that he denied. Specifically, Respondent

The NY disbarment order found Respondent guilty of violating Disciplinary Rules 1-102(A)(8) (conduct adversely reflecting on fitness to practice law) and 1-102 (A) (4) (conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation) of the Code of Responsibility. (NY disciplinary order).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In addition, the Bar's complaint states that Respondent failed to voluntarily file a copy of the NY disciplinary order with the Supreme Court of Florida within thirty (30) days, contrary to Rule 3-7.2(j), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. However, the Referee's report references only the NY disciplinary order and does not contain any finding of fact or guilt based upon a failure to file. Since there is no finding of failure to file, this assertion is not a subject of appeal.

acknowledged the genuineness of the NY disciplinary order, but denied the "truth or veracity of any of the alleged facts or conclusions therein. (Respondent's answer to the Bar's Request for Admissions).

The Bar filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment asserting both that there were no issues of fact or law and that partial summary judgment should be granted as to issues of fact and violation of the rules based upon Respondent's responses to the Bar's Complaint and Requests for Admissions. Respondent filed a response in opposition to the Bar's motion.

A hearing on the Bar's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was held before the Referee on May 17, 1999. Both Respondent and Bar Counsel appeared at this hearing. By order dated May 19, 1999, the Referee granted the Bar's motion for summary judgment as to violations of The Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

A final hearing for determination of discipline was held before the Referee on June 21, 1999. Respondent did not appear at this hearing.

On June 30, 1999, the Referee executed the Report of Referee which reaffirms summary judgment as a basis for finding Respondent guilty of a violation of Rules 4-8.4(c) and (d), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. (RR at 1). In addition, the Referee's report reaffirms the ruling that Respondent's NY disciplinary order constitutes conclusive proof of misconduct in this disciplinary proceeding pursuant to Rule 3-4.6, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. (RR at 2).

The referee recommended disbarment from the practice of law in Florida, with

leave to reapply in five years, as a disciplinary sanction. In recommending discipline, the Referee considered the following aggravating factors:

Standard 9.22(f) submission of false evidence, false statements or other deceptive practices during the disciplinary process.

Standard 9.22(g) refusal to acknowledge wrongful nature of conduct.

Standard 9.22(j) substantial experience in the practice of law. (RR 3)

In addition, the following factors were considered in mitigation:

Standard 9.32(a) absence of a prior disciplinary record.

Standard 9.32(h) physical or mental disability or impairment. (RR 4)

On July 14, 1999, counsel entered an appearance on behalf of Respondent and delivered to the Referee a Motion for Rehearing of the referee's report. Respondent's motion for rehearing confirmed that Bar counsel did not object to the granting of the motion and the reopening of this case for further proceedings before the referee.

Notwithstanding the fact that Respondent's motion for rehearing was not opposed by the Bar, by order dated July 26, 1999, the Referee denied the motion without a hearing.

The Report of Referee was considered and approved by the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar at its August 1999 meeting.

Respondent petitioned for review of the Referee's findings, recommendations, both as to guilt and discipline, and rulings, specifically the granting of the Bar's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.

In addition, Respondent filed a Motion for Leave to Supplement the Record. By

order dated September 17, 1999, this Court granted Respondent's motion and directed Respondent to file the transcripts of the judicial removal proceeding to supplement the record in this case. On September 24, 1999, Respondent's counsel forwarded to this Court the transcript of the judicial removal proceeding, together with the exhibits referenced therein.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The NY disciplinary proceeding which resulted in the NY disciplinary order is based upon the findings and evidence presented in the judicial removal proceeding. The NY disciplinary proceeding was instituted as a result of a complaint filed by Liotti (APP B: Answer at Par. 6), the principal witness against Respondent in the judicial removal proceedings.

The NY referee ruled that collateral estoppel applied. As a result, Respondent was precluded from presenting evidence disputing the factual charges in the NY disciplinary proceeding which were identical to findings of the NYCJC.<sup>3</sup> The collateral estoppel ruling specifically stated that Respondent was "barred from litigating in any fashion the factual allegations contained in petitioner's charges". (APP B: Answer at 11-12; APP C: Affirmation at 1). Notwithstanding Respondent's denial of the charges, he acknowledged that he was bound by the findings of the NYCJC because of the collateral estoppel ruling of the NY referee. (APP C: Affirmation at 1). The NY disciplinary proceeding concluded with the opinion and order issued December 16, 1998 disbarring Respondent indefinitely from the practice of law in New York.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The petition filed in the NY disciplinary proceeding sets forth six charges of misconduct: Charge One pertains to communications sent to Liotti, most of which were sent anonymously by facsimile. Charge Two pertains to a four-page statement entitled "13 Suggestions for 'Confrontational' or Intentionally Offensive Criminal Defense Attorneys" which was prepared by Respondent and distributed at a Bar association dinner. Charges Three through Six pertain to statements made and testimony given by Petitioner concerning these matters during the investigation by the NYCJC. (NY disciplinary order).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A disbarred attorney in New York may apply for reinstatement after seven years. CLS Sup Ct Rule §691.11 [22 NYCRR §691.11] However, New York reinstatement proceedings are far less

The instant disciplinary proceeding is based upon Respondent's NY disciplinary order and is, therefore, likewise based upon the same acts that were found to warrant Respondent's removal as a judge of the County Court.

Testimony and evidence were presented in the judicial removal proceeding which established the antagonistic relationship between Respondent and Liotti. Respondent is a member of the Conservative Party, who was endorsed as a judge by the Republican Party (NYCJC TR 127, I). Liotti testified that he is an outspoken individual who was highly critical of Respondent (NYCJC TR 558, III).

Prior to 1991, Respondent and Liotti had a good relationship (NYCJC TR 722, IV). Both Respondent and Liotti confirm that their differences began in 1991 when Liotti, who was in charge of the speaker's program of the Criminal Courts Bar Association of Nassau County, invited attorney William Kunstler to speak at its meeting. (NYCJC TR 559, III; 723-727, IV; 1014; VI). Respondent was opposed to Mr. Kunstler's views and objected to the invitation. (NYCJC TR 727; IV) Thereafter, Respondent and Liotti exchanged a number of critical letters. (NYCJC EX 10-21).

In June 1993 Liotti began a one-year term as became President of the CCBA

arduous than The Florida Bar readmission proceedings. For example, a disbarred lawyer in New York is not required to pass the New York State Bar examination as part of the reinstatement process; whereas a disbarred lawyer in Florida is required to comply with **all** rules governing admission to The Florida Bar, including passing The Florida Bar exam.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The transcript of proceedings in the judicial removal proceeding, together with the annexed exhibits, represents the evidentiary basis for the findings of the NYCJC. Although the Referee did not consider these items in this disciplinary proceeding, they are part of this record on appeal based upon this Court's order granting Respondent's Motion to Supplement the Record.

(NYCJC TR 583; III). Respondent was critical of Liotti's policies and practices as President and suspended his membership in CCBA. (NYCJC TR 1014-1015, VI) In December 1993 Liotti sent letters to Respondent's administrative superiors criticizing his fitness to serve as a County Judge (NYCJC EX 22; NYCJC REX R).

On January 4, 1994, Liotti spoke at the induction ceremony for newly elected Nassau County Court Judges (NYCJC TR at 568, III). Liotti's remarks included 13 points on how to avoid being a bad judge. In his remarks, Liotti made reference to Respondent, without specifically identifying him, for a license plate that read "Guilty" (NYCJC TR at 570-571, III; NYCJC EX 49). In testifying before the Commission, Respondent acknowledged that for a period of 16 weeks, his wife drove a car with the license plate "Guilty." (NYCJC TR at 1393, VIII).

Liotti testified that during the period January 15, 1994 through May 2, 1994, he received eight anonymous communications which caused him "some degree of apprehension" (NYCJC TR at 571-580 III; NYCJC EX 32-42):

Anonymous Letter sent on or about January 14, 1994 (NYCJC EX 33)

Anonymous communication sent by facsimile on or about January 29, 1994 (NYCJC EX 34)

Anonymous communication sent by facsimile on or about March 3, 1994 (NYCJC EX 35)

Anonymous letter with business card, envelope containing: pills, a leprechaun decal and the phone number of the Central Intelligence Agency sent in or about mid-March 1994 (NYCJC EX 36-40)

Anonymous letter sent in or about late March 1994 (NYCJC EX 41)

Anonymous communication sent by facsimile on or about May 2, 1994 (NYCJC EX 42)

During the period August 18, 1994 and mid-September 1994, Liotti testified that he received three additional anonymous communications (NYCJC TR at 590-595, III; NYCJC EX 32-42) and that he became "more and more fearful" (NYCJC TR at 590-595, III; EX 43-45).

Anonymous communication sent by facsimile on or about August 18, 1994 (NYCJC EX 43)

Anonymous communication sent by facsimile on or about September 1994 (NYCJC EX 44)

Anonymous communication sent in September 1994 consisting of street maps marked with Liotti's office and home (NYCJC EX 45A)

Liotti admitted that he never reported his concerns or made any claim of harassment to any law enforcement agency (NYCJC TR at 764, 765, 767, 770, 773, 794-795, IV).

<sup>6</sup> Liotti directed his secretary to keep these communications in a file in his office. (NYCJC TR at 596, III).

Respondent denied sending any anonymous communications to Liotti. (NYCJC TR at 1012, 1018-1019, 1029-1036, 1054, 1062-1063, VI). Circumstantial evidence was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Liotti's testimony confirms that in June 1994 he met with a postal office supervisor in a debriefing session in another case and mentioned the anonymous communications to the supervisor. He thereafter had some telephone calls and made a complaint to the Commission. (NYCJC TR at 790-796, IV).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Respondent acknowledged sending a fax relating to the Wyatt Earp movie to his secretary through Liotti's office, but denied that the fax that he sent contained "Don't say I didn't warn you" (NYCJC TR 1054,1060).

presented in the judicial removal proceeding to support the assertion that Respondent sent the anonymous communications to Liotti. (NYCJC TR at 12, I).

Although Respondent denied sending any anonymous communications to Liotti, he acknowledged that he faxed two written communications to Liotti. The first was the signed "RSVP" communication sent by facsimile on or about June 16, 1994 (NYCJC EX 23); the second was a movie advertisement with a handwritten message to Bonnie Nohs sent by facsimile on or about June 24, 1994 (NYCJC EX 27).8

Charge One of the NY disciplinary order is based upon the communications sent to Liotti (NYCJC EX 23, 26, 27, 32-45A) which were attributed to Respondent and found to be violative of Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(8) (22 NYCRR 1200.3[a][8] (conduct adversely reflecting on fitness to practice law).

Charge Two of the NY disciplinary order is based upon a written statement prepared by Respondent which was made available for distribution at the CCBA installation dinner on June 23, 1994. This statement is entitled "13 Suggestions for 'Confrontational' or Intentionally Offensive Criminal Defense Attorneys" includes "assertions warning attorneys of the potential consequences of filing complaints against or otherwise offending Judges." (NYCJC EX 28; NY disciplinary order).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Respondent explained that this communication was sent to Liotti's office with the intention that it would be transmitted to Nohs. (NYCJC TR at 1058-1059). Nohs does printing work for the CCBA (NYCJC TR at 486). Although Liotti's secretary advised that she refused to forward the communication to Nohs (NYCJC TR at 217), Nohs testified that it was faxed by Liotti's office and not by Respondent (NYCJC TR at 497).

The written statement declares "PERSONAL AND UNOFFICIAL" at the beginning and declares at the end:

The speaker does not purport to represent the judiciary in general whatsoever in these remarks; the views expressed are entirely personal. Additionally, those cautions discussing specific unprofessional or unwise conduct are HYPOTHETICAL, and do not apply to any member of this association, nor to any other attorney, either living or dead". (NYCJC EX 28).

Respondent testified that the written statement was prepared in a "roast atmosphere" (NYCJC TR 1615, IX). He further confirmed that although Liotti was not specifically mentioned, Liotti and other attorneys inspired some of the passages. (NYCJC TR at 1391,VIII; 1048-1049, VI; 1461-1462, 1464, 1468, 1490, 1492, 1494-97, 1499, 1504, 1406, 1508-1510, IX).

Respondent's written statement was found to be violative of Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(8) (22 NYCRR 1200.3[a][8] (conduct adversely reflecting on fitness to practice law).

Charge Three is based upon statements made by Respondent in October 1994 to the Nassau County Police Department and in a letter to the Commission dated November 8, 1994 (NYCJC EX 30) that he never communicated with the President (NYCJC TR 127-28, I; 366-367, 371-373; II) and that someone had communicated with the President in his name. (NYCJC TR 160, I; 367-368, II) In his communication with the police, Respondent suggested Liotti as a possible suspect.

Charges Four through Six are all based upon Respondent's testimony before the Commission on January 24, 1995 (NYCJC EX 24) with regard to three areas:

The first area involves Respondent's testimony in which he asserts that he had not communicated with the White House by e-mail, that he did not send the President an e-mail message, that he did not know how the White House had his own name and home address, that he did not know why the President sent him a letter, and that some other person communicated to the President in his name (EX 30, pp 10-11; EX 24, 99 273-276, 279, II). <sup>9</sup>

The second area of testimony involved Respondent's communications with Bonnie Nohs at a Bar dinner on June 23, 1994 concerning a movie recommendation as well as the subsequent facsimile of the movie advertisement to Ms. Nohs, including Respondent's intentions and explanation of the circumstances surrounding its transmittal. Respondent denied that he testified falsely (NYCJC TR 1079; VI)

The third area concerned Respondent's statements with regard to Liotti's knowledge that he was taking Prozac and that he had caught Liotti in chambers, alone, standing next to his flight suit that is kept in chambers; that Liotti had unzipped the top to uncover the medical alert tag and that Liotti had read the tag which indicated that Respondent used Prozac. (NYCJC TR at 1083; VI)

Respondent presented 17 character witnesses, including four judges, whose testimony confirmed Respondent's good character and his reputation for truth and honesty. Some of these witnesses had knowledge of and testified to the bad character of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Detective Robert Tedesco testified that he was conducting an investigation of harassing letters and packages that Judge Mogil had received and that during this meeting Respondent gave him the letter that he had received from the President, stating that he had not sent any letter to the President (NYCJC TR 366-367, II);

Liotti.

Vincent R Balletta, Jr., a Justice of the Supreme Court, Appellate Division, Second Department, testified that Respondent's reputation for truth and honesty "is unblemished as far as I know. I have never heard anybody tell me that they questioned his honesty or his integrity, and I certainly don't." (NYCJC TR at 1344, VIII).

M. Arthur Eiberson, Presiding Judge, District Court, Nassau County, testified that Respondent's reputation for truth and honesty is, "Of the highest", "excellent." (NYCJC TR at 967, V).

Zelda Jonas, a Nassau County Court Judge, testified that respondent's reputation for truth and honesty was "excellent." (NYCJC TR at 1137, VII).

Arthur D. Spatt, a Judge of the Unites States District Judge, and a former Associate Justice of the Appellate Division, Second Department, testified that Respondent's reputation for truth and honesty was "excellent." (NYCJC TR at 1229-1231, VIII).

Victor Myron Ort, Chief Clerk of County Court testified that Respondent's reputation for truth and honesty is "an outstanding one." (NYCJC TR at 876, IV)

Claudia Schultz, an attorney who practiced in Nassau County for about 15 years testified that she did not know specifically about Respondent's reputation for truth and honesty, but had not heard anything bad. She added that she thought that it is "routinely thought to be a pleasure to appear in Judge Mogil's part" (NYCJC TR at 934-936, V). She also said that it was a "rather universal opinion" that Liotti is "a sleazy guy," and

"can certainly be dishonest." (NYCJC TR at 940, V).

Jerri Krevoff, a senior court reporter in Nassau County Court for 22 ½ years, testified that Respondent's reputation for truth and honesty is "excellent." (NYCJC TR at 951-952, V).

Ira J. Raab, an attorney, testified that he did not know Respondent's reputation for truth and honesty, but has not ever heard anything bad about him. (NYCJC TR at 976, V).

Anchelle Pearl, a Rabbi, testified that Respondent's reputation for truth and honesty was "absolutely, the highest"; "absolutely fine, good reputation." (NYCJC TR at 994, V).

Robert Owen Gray, a consultant for Nassau County Board of Supervisors testified that respondent's reputation for truth and honesty is "100 percent good quality" and "you can live by his word and I've done it many times" (NYCJC TR at 1006-1007, VI). He further testified that Liotti's reputation for truth and honesty was "Not a very good one, sir . . . I would say it's negative". (NYCJC TR at 1008, VI).

Nathan Dennis Sansberie, a Nassau County District Attorney, testified that Respondent's reputation for truth and honesty is "excellent". (NYCJC TR at 1039, VI). He further testified that Liotti's reputation for truth and honesty was "Not that good." (NYCJC TR at 1040, VI).

Fred Klein, Chief of Major Offense Bureau of the Nassau County District Attorney's Office, testified that Respondent's reputation for truth and honesty was "excellent." (NYCJC TR at 1086,1087, VII). He further testified that Liotti's reputation for truth and honesty "on the whole is pretty poor". (NYCJC TR at 1087, VII).

John O'Leary, receiver of taxes in the Town of Oyster Bay, Nassau County and Vice-Chairman of the New York State Conservative Party, testified that Respondent's reputation for truth and honesty is "the best, the finest" and further testified that Liotti's reputation for truth and honest was "Very, very bad". (NYCJC TR at 1140, VII).

Harry H. Kutner, an attorney who was formerly a U.S. Marine and New York State Parkway patrolman, testified that Respondent's reputation for truth and honesty was "excellent". (NYCJC TR at 1143, VII). He further testified that Liotti's reputation for truth and honesty was "not good." (NYCJC TR at 1144, VII).

Diane Gaines, who works with Women's Opportunity Resource Center, testified that Respondent's reputation for truth and honesty is "that the judge is a very honest man. He's sincere and he's committed to helping people less fortunate" (NYCJC TR at 1146, VII).

Elliot F. Bloom, an attorney in Nassau County testified that Respondent "is a truthful and honest person." (NYCJC TR at 1149, VII).

Rosemary Kelly Guiliano, executive director of the Education Assistance Corporation, testified that Respondent "has a phenomenal reputation with the people that I have been associated with in the courts, both in Probation and in the people who run the courts and the people who are employed at EAC". (NYCJC TR at 1278, VIII).

The Commission did not present any adverse witness testimony.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Respondent is a member of The Florida Bar and was both an attorney and a judge in New York. Respondent was the subject of judicial removal proceedings which resulted in adverse findings and ultimately his removal from judicial office. The evidentiary standard that is applicable to judicial removal proceedings in New York is preponderance of the evidence.

Disciplinary proceedings were thereafter instituted in New York for the same acts that resulted in Respondent's removal from judicial office. Collateral estoppel was ruled applicable to these disciplinary proceedings as a legal basis to preclude Respondent from challenging any of the findings made in the judicial removal proceedings. Respondent was disbarred. The evidentiary standard that is applicable to disciplinary proceedings in New York is, likewise, preponderance of the evidence.

This disciplinary proceeding was thereafter instituted and is based solely upon Respondent's NY disbarment order. Notwithstanding Respondent's objections to summary judgment and his denial of guilt of the misconduct, the Referee considered Rule 3-4.6, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, to require summary judgment as to the findings of fact and guilt.

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