#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,		
Complainant,		
		Case No. 94,861
V.		TFB File No. 99-00772-02
BERNARD MARC MOGIL,		
Respondent.		
	/	

## ANSWER BRIEF OF COMPLAINANT, THE FLORIDA BAR

Donald M. Spangler, Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5845 Florida Bar No. 0184457

John Anthony Boggs, Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600 Florida Bar No. 253847

John F. Harkness, Jr., Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600 Florida Bar No. 123390

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Respondent appeared at the hearing on Motion for Summary Judgment, at which time he consented to entry of summary judgment as to the issue of guilt. He did not appear for the final hearing as regards the recommended level of discipline, but he now urges the Court to disregard the referee's recommendations as to both guilt and discipline, in part because he claims not to have had the opportunity to be heard. Respondent did not meet his burden of showing that the New York disciplinary proceeding was flawed and therefore should not be given conclusive effect. Further, there is competent substantial evidence in the record which was before the referee at the time of his determinations to support the recommendations he included in his report.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### **ISSUE I**

THE ADJUDICATION OF GUILT BY THE NEW YORK BAR IS CONCLUSIVE AS TO THE ISSUE OF GUILT IN THE FLORIDA DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING.

The issue of guilt in the proceeding below was resolved by summary judgment at a hearing before the referee, attended by the Respondent, pro se. Those matters of record and considered by the referee at that time consisted of the Complaint, Requests for Admissions directed to Respondent, Respondent's Answer and Admissions and attachments thereto consisting of Respondent's March 8, 1999 letter addressed to the referee, together with documents filed in the New York removal and disciplinary proceedings consisting of a thirty-one page "Brief by Appellant Judge", Respondent's "Answer to Petition", Respondent's "Memorandum of Law", "Respondent's Proposed Findings and Conclusions", Respondent's "Motion to Confirm Report of Judicial Hearing Officer", a letter dated October 21, 1997 from Judge Andrew J. DiPaola and a copy of a subpoena directed to Judge DiPaola. Respondent did not see fit to file the transcripts of the New York proceedings until after the final hearing and rendering of the report of referee, when he retained counsel who then moved to supplement the record with the New York transcripts. It is important to note that, while the

transcripts themselves were not available to or considered by the referee, the New York documents enumerated above were a matter of record at the time summary judgment was entered.

Respondent appeared for the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment, but rather than argue that the New York proceeding was flawed, he consented to the entry of summary judgment. **SJ11** 

It is well established law that, as provided by Rule 3-4.6, R.Regulating Fla.Bar, a final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court or other authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, state or federal, that an attorney licensed to practice in that jurisdiction is guilty of misconduct justifying disciplinary action shall be considered as conclusive proof of such misconduct in a disciplinary proceeding under this rule. The effect of this rule has been decided in *The Florida Bar v. Wilkes*, 179 So2d 193 (Fla.1965) [construing identical language in the predecessor Rule 11.02(6), Integration Rule of The Florida Bar] and *The Florida Bar v. Friedman*, 646 So2d 188 (Fla.1994), both cases involving discipline imposed by the New York bar, as is the case here.

Under the holdings of both *Wilkes* and *Friedman*, *supra*, if the respondent means to attack the conclusive effect of the foreign disciplinary adjudication, he must accept the burden of proving that the foreign adjudication

"...(W) as so deficient or lacking in notice or opportunity to be heard, that there was such a paucity of proof, or that there was some other grave reason which would make it unjust to accept the foreign judgment as conclusive proof of guilt of the misconduct involved ..." (*Wilkes, supra*, page 198)

In *Friedman*, this Court observed that, as is the case here,

"...(T)he burden was on Friedman to demonstrate that New York's proceedings were deficient. ... Friedman was given ample opportunity before and during his disciplinary proceedings to demonstrate any inadequacies in the New York forum. For instance, he could have made the New York transcript available to the reviewing referee, but failed to do so." (*Friedman, supra*, page 190)

Respondent below had the same opportunity to prepare the record as did Friedman, and in fact, did so, to the extent noted previously, yet failed to make available the New York transcripts until after the referee had filed his report.

#### **ISSUE II**

THE NEW YORK ADJUDICATION IS CONCLUSIVE PROOF OF MISCONDUCT DESPITE THE VARYING STANDARD OF PROOF REQUIRED.

It should be noted that, while Respondent argues that the New York adjudication should not be conclusive because it was based on a preponderance of evidence standard, as opposed to clear and convincing evidence, this Court found no

and *Friedman*, *supra*, both decided by a preponderance of evidence. In fact, the referee in Friedman voiced exactly this concern, which this Court laid to rest by reference to the language of Standard 1.3, Fla. Stds.Imposing Law.Sancs.,

"These standards are designed for use in imposing a sanction or sanctions following a determination by clear and convincing evidence that a member of the legal profession has violated a provision of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar (*or applicable standard under the laws of the jurisdiction where the proceeding is brought*)." (Emphasis added.)

thus recognizing that foreign jurisdictions may employ different standards than those applicable in Florida proceedings, yet declining to find the foreign adjudication deficient based on that argument.

## **ISSUE III**

RESPONDENT SHOULD BE PRECLUDED FROM RAISING FOR
THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL THAT WHICH WAS NOT
PRESENTED TO THE TRIER OF FACT, BELOW.

While Respondent appeared *pro se* below until he secured counsel following the final hearing, it should be remembered that he was admitted to The Florida Bar on December 19, 1974 (**RR3**) more than twenty-four years prior to these proceedings.

Of those twenty-four years, ten have been as a sitting judge in New York. His

decision to handle the proceedings below *pro se*, and the strategies he adopted in doing so, could hardly have been made out of naivete. The record clearly shows that he had notice and an opportunity to be heard at every stage of the proceeding. The record of the summary judgment hearing contains a colloquy in which he is clearly invited by the referee to either appear in person for the final hearing, or by affidavit (SJ10), yet he declined to do so, for reasons known only to him. He now seeks, through belatedly retained counsel, to have this Court consider matters that were not part of the record available to the referee below, and based upon the supplemented record, to find that the referee erred by his failure to consider matters that the Respondent had the burden of proving before the trier of fact. Respondent thus appears to be seeking a trial *de novo* as to this issue.

Had the referee below been provided with an opportunity to weigh and evaluate the New York transcripts Respondent now seeks to have this Court weigh, and had the referee made an inappropriate recommendation based upon that evidence before him, Respondent would be correct in his efforts to have this Court reconsider that evidence, since this Court is not bound by the referee's conclusions as to the level of discipline to be imposed. *The Florida Bar v. Weaver*, 356 So2d 797 (Fla.1978). Such was not the case here, however, where the referee was not given the opportunity to weigh the evidence with which the Respondent belatedly supplemented the record.

It is well settled law that a party cannot raise on appeal for the first time that which he did not raise before the trier of fact below. An appeal has never been an evidentiary proceeding; it is a proceeding to review a judgment or order of a lower tribunal, based on the record before that tribunal. An appellate court will not consider evidence that was not presented to the lower tribunal because the function of an appellate court is to determine whether the lower tribunal committed error on the issues and evidence before it. *Thornber vs. City of Fort Walton Beach*, 534 So 2d 754 (Fla 1st DCA, 1988).

#### **ISSUE IV**

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF RULE VIOLATIONS ARE SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE OF RECORD.

Exhibit A of The Florida Bar's complaint, which Respondent admitted below was genuine and admissible, and which was a part of the record at the time the referee made his determinations as reflected in his report to the Court, is the seven page Opinion and Order of the New York court which disbarred Respondent. Six of the seven pages, which the referee considered, detail a laundry list of the conduct of which the New York court found the Respondent guilty, and upon which it based its discipline. In his brief, Respondent seeks to excuse that conduct on the argument that the offensive acts the New York court found to have occurred were not committed as

a lawyer engaged in the practice of law, but as a sitting judge. Respondent relies upon the language of comments provided to explain Rule 4-8.4(d), R.Regulating Fla.Bar, but overlooks the language appearing in the next paragraph of the comment following the language relied upon, which states that "Lawyers holding public office assume legal responsibilities going beyond those of other citizens. A lawyer's abuse of public office can suggest an inability to fulfill the professional role of attorney." It is difficult to reconcile an argument to the effect that conduct that would subject a lawyer to discipline would not also subject a judge to discipline. The referee was entitled to find that a judge who referred to counsel as "Donkey-turd", "defensive superstar", a "traffic court jerk" and a "laughing stock", could not have been using anything other than disparaging language, or engaging in anything other than conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice.

The respondent in *The Florida Bar v. Vining*, 707 So2d 670 (Fla.1998) argued that the referee did not make specific findings of fact, or make independent findings, just as is argued here. In *Vining*, however, the Court found that argument to be without merit, and instructed that the referee is authorized to consider any relevant evidence, including the trial transcript or judgment from a civil proceeding. To the extent that the New York proceedings were before him at the time of the final hearing, the referee was authorized to rely upon them in arriving at his determinations of both

guilt and the level of discipline to be recommended.

Respondent also attacks the referee's finding that there were violations of Rule 4-8.4(c), R.Regulating Fla.Bar, but if we look to the New York record that was before the referee, we once again see that Respondent was found to have falsely testified before the Commission on Judicial Conduct as to the sending of an e-mail message to the White House, as to the sending of a facsimile to Liotti's secretary and as to having caught Liotti in the act of searching his personal belongings in chambers and learning thereby that Respondent was taking the prescription drug Prozac. The referee was entitled to rely upon those findings, as was held in *Vining*, *supra*, and absent any rebuttal offered by Respondent, to find that those facts established conduct involving deceit or misrepresentation and, therefore, a violation of Rule 4-8.4(c), R.Regulating Fla.Bar.

## **CONCLUSION**

The referee's recommendation of disbarment form the practice of law in the state of Florida, with leave to reapply in five years, should be adopted by the Court.